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FIGURE 1 Crook House soon after completion, ca. 1903. Left to right--Herbert Davis, Mary Crook Davis, Jim
Crook and unidentified woman, possibly Rhoda Anderson. Collection, San Juan Island National Historical Park.
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My Life Story

In English Camp

Where British soldiers once did tramp
There is where I've spent

My Tong career.

I've hauled the logs
And drained the bogs
And worked

With horse and steer.

I've handled wood cord after cord
And threw it down a slippery board
At the bottom near the bow

I piled it high up on the scow.

I plowed up fields filled with stumps
With tools on wheels I smoothed the Tumps.

To do hard work I have been forced
But from hard work I'm now divorced.

I hope again I'11 never be married
To heavy things that were hauled and carried.

Sometimes with work I'm forced to flirt
By myself I'm careful not to hurt.

I've done woodwork and every bevel
And tried to drag girls down to my level.

With watchful eye I Tong did look
To change some good girl to a Crook.

Until this time I've done no harm
And now I've lost my youthful charm.

--James Crook, n.d.



CROOK HOUSE
HISTORIC STRUCTURES REPORT

English Camp
San Juan Island National Historical Park
San Juan Island, Washington

Prepared by
Patricia Erigero, Historian
Barry Schnoll, Historical Architect

August 1984



TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION . e e eeeeeeeeeeeeeaceaceeoasssoenoasossssensssssssscscscennsas 1
PART ONE
BACKGROUND
To. ADMIRISTRATIVE DRTE . oo wwmsmmm s sms s s s s oo o s e o 05w s 6w 5
List of Classified Structures (5)--Planning Documents (5)
--Justification of Proposed Treatment (6)--Recommended Changes in
Proposed Treatment and Use of the Structure (7)--Recommendations
for Documentation (8)
II. GEOGRAPHIC AND NATURAL SETTING..eeeeeeeeececececcasccsccccsonssnsnse 9
PART TWO
HISTORY
L1Lc, CONTEXT s o6 65008006850 a065 565550 bmssossetsessssonsssssiessnsssis 17
English Camp Structures (21)--Civilian Settlement (23)
IV, THE CROOK FAMILY .ueeeeeooeeeecooooceoososeeoasoooascsascacnnsonsns 27
V. THE CROOK HOUSE..., .............................................. 47
Interior Features (52)
VI, SITE DEVELOPMERT o cimeme st vnesnssmassassss oeessssssseessnsnasssssss 59
PART THREE
EXISTING SITE AND BUILDING CONDITIONS
VILa  SITE o owmmmewmnmes omm e i oo e w6 ot a0 6w % 0 0 fows 5 8 618 8 o 5055 00 00185 w0 92 1 6030 8 00 1 1 69
VIID: BUILDING. oo ot o555 66668565 58 560 ds 655 855 @b b6 865605 0 08 4.6, 806 50 5.9 %0 1% 8 o 75
Structural Systems (75)--Exterior Building Envelope (87
--Mechanical System (90)--Electrical (94)--Interior (94
--Room-by-Room Description (96)--Door Schedule (102)--Window
Schedule (103)
PART FOUR
BUILDING DEVELOPMENT
IX. TARGET OBJECTIVES FOR BUILDING DEVELOPMENT ¢evieeeeeeeeeacnannns 109

Site (110)--Visitor Center (111)--Staff (112)--Curatorial (112)
--Long Term (113)



X. RECOMMENDED APPROACHES

f ettt eeeeneetateeaneeeraaeeaaaeeannaen 115
Site (115)--Visitor Center (118)--Staff (119)--Curatorial (122)
--Long Term (123)--Areas of Future Study (124)
XI. REHABILITATION TO MEET PROGRAM AND CODE REQUIREMENTS..eeceeeeece 125
APPENDICES s sssnsnvsansinsisnssnsunsonnnnss & o1 8 8 6 (e 139

Statement of Significance (141)--Abridged Census Material (143)

--Abridged San Juan County Property Assessment (145)--1875 Auction

Announcement (147)~-James Crook, Sr., Drawing (149)--Standard
Distribution List (151)

SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY



ILLUSTRATIONS

Crook House, ca. 1903..... o S e TGS R e e e € R e 6 1
Regional Map: San Juan IslandS..cceeecccsccecccss U 10
Vicinity Map: San Juan IslandS..ssssssscsssvsnsansssssssssassssovin 11
English Camp During Royal Marines Occupation..ceeeececeececccececes 19
Emgraving of English Camp, €8 1B ausmmansssnnsunnnsnannnnmmynnns 26
Mary Crook Davis, Jim Crook and Rhoda Crook, ca. 1900.cceececcccess 37
Carding Machine Bulilt by Jim Crookessesssnssssssvnonnnsonnssnananns 37
Jim Crook with Homemade Wool Suit, ca. 1945..cccececccnccccces v e w wR
Mary Crook Davis and Jim Crook, €a. 1955 cessncusconsnasnnane O 45
Crook House, ca. 1903.ccccecccocccccss e S 6 S 8 RSP . |
Crook House Porch Brackets, 1988...ccessscssssssssonnsessnsnsssssnn 46
Crook House West Entry Door, 1984...cccececccccceccosescescccccncccs 51
Crook House Second Floor Porch Door, 1984...cceeecercecasccscnncacs 51
Ca. 1960 Kitchen Wing, Crook House, 1984....ccc00cevcccscscsossoncscs 53
Partial North Elevation, Crook House, 1984...cceeceeccccccccccncans 53
Interior Panel Door, Crook House, 1984........ 6 ST 3 X SRR Y
Interior Window Trim, Crook House, 1984...cccceceeccccccccccncenans 57
English Camp, ca. 1910.ccecccces I O R R ..60
Erglish Camp, Cou TEBUwwwwmwmmom e mmm o e wmm s mm mn s m oo o e s m mamos s s e 61
English CamPs C8u VBB www s mm oo n s mmm s mn o w0 s s s e s % 8 60006068 61
English Comp, Cae TBOB . wuunswonmessn mmasm s s e e 6o s ss e emees s s 63
East Elevation of Masonry Ruins and Company MeSS.eeeeescecsscssccns 63
Crook Orchard in Royal Marine's Parade Ground, 1908...cceceeecccsnss 65
Crook Sheep in Parade Ground, Ca. 1915.ccceececcocccceccasccconsasns 65
English Camp Site Plan..ccsseesacss I8 ST 6 0 8 O S 0 70
West Elevation, Crook HOUSEeeeeeeeeceoeccocooosssocasscsscccoonnnes 72
South Elevation, Crook HOUSE.eeeeeeeoseocossssscccoooossssssassssne 72
North Elevation, Crook House...... PP PP 73
North Elevation, Crook HOUSE.eeeeeeeseceesocecescscoccscnssssccnsnss 73
West Elevation, Crook HOUSB.csisssssnsvonsasnansvanrsssesssossns wuwnlB
South Elevation, Crook Hous€..eceees 5 oo B 0 8 B 61 6 e vene s B B S E B 77
East Elevation, Crook HOUSEeeeeeeeeeoececeoocceoscscecosascosasccnas 78
North Elevation,; Crook HOUSEeweessssnmssososnsaomenssosnssosssesss .79
Crook House Foundation, West End Under Porch, 1984....... S 82
Crook House Foundation,

Notch in Log Girder for Original Post, 1984....cciueiienncccennnns 82
Beaded Board Ceiling of Second Floor Porch, 1984....cccvieveececces 85
Crook House Porch, 1984 ...cccceeeeccccccsccssscscssscssscccccssssssse 85
West Porch Steps of Crook House, 1984....cccceeecccccecccscccscanes 86
Deteriorated First Floor Porch Deck, 1984...cceeeccceescscccsscccns 86
Temporary Bracing for Southwest Corner Porch Column, 1984.......... 88
Deteriorated Skirting Under Rotted Porch Deck, 1984....cccveveceee. 88
Second Floor Porch Railing, 1984..cccececcccecccccceaccccccccconcns 88
Northwest Corner of Crook House Porch, 1984.....ccccieeecccceccccncee 89
Bevel Edge Shiplap Siding and T1-11 Skirting, 1984.....ccvveeecenns 89
Gable Roof on East Side of Crook House, 1984...cceeceeccccnccnncnns 91
Crook House Addition, 1984..ccceee. BB e W 6 o 06 @ ienel @ 91
Chimney on Unfinished West Wall

of Bedroom #3 in Crook House, 1984..ccccceecescccnccsscnssconcnns 93
Bedroom #4 of Crook House, TI84..ssssesnsssmnsunssnnnmmnnnnnnsmyens 93

Unfinished Interior of Bedroom #4, 1984...ccccceececcccocccccnncens 95



50.
51.
52.
53,
54.
85,
56.
b7,

Crook House Staircase, 1984....cceeeeceneccscccscnsscscssessnscnsns 95
First Floor Plan, Crook HOUSE..eeeeeeseocescscesassosscoscasascnsess 97
Second Floor Plan, Crook HOUSE..sissvnsnsssnnssasvsss EEEEEEN S 100
Recommended Site Development...eeeeeecerceceesescncesccscoccccnnns 116
Recommended Building Development, First F1o0r.cceeeececcecceccnces 120
Recommended Building Development, Second Floor..... PP P 121
General Rehabilitation Notes, First FIoOr.eceeeeeseceeececeenenenns 136

General Rehabilitation Notes, Second Fl1oOreeeeeeceeceecscccccccnns 137



Introduction

This Historic Structures Report will be the basis for the preparation
of construction documents and compliance requirements for the adaptive
re-use of the Crook House. Since the facility appears to qualify for the
National Register of Historic Places, special consideration must be given
to any proposed work at the site in order to protect historically
significant elements. This report defines these elements and provides
recommendations for their preservation. The report outlines building and
site deficiencies that must be addressed as part of the total
rehabilitation project, and provides recommendations for correcting these
deficiencies. The report and accompanying drawings and notes have been
prepared to aid professionals involved in immediate and future planning at
the house, and to serve as a record documentation of the facility.

This report was prepared by the Cultural Resources Division, Pacific

Northwest Region, National Park Service; information was provided by San
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Juan Island National Historical Park staff and planning personnel from

the Pacific Northwest Region of the National Park Service.
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Administrative Data

List of Classified Structures

Crook Farm Group: Crook House, LCS #101-1

Management Category C: Structures that may be preserved and maintained

Proposed Use: Adaptive re-use--visitor information center, exhibit space,
park staff office and curatorial storage

Planning Documents

Documents proposing treatment and use of the structure, cooperative
agreements, and other documents bearing on the proposed management,
furnishing, and use of the structure.

U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service. Report on San
Juan Island Investigation, by E. Davidson, R. Bond, J. Lewis, 1937.

U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service. San Juan Island
National Historical Park, Washington: A Proposal, by Charles Brown, John
Doerr, John Hussey, et. al. San Francisco: Western Regional Office,
National Park Service, March, 1964.

U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service. San Juan Island
National Historical Park, Washington: A Master Plan, by Richard W.
Barnett, et. al. San Francisco: San Francisco Service Center, National
Park Service, 1968.




U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service. Interpretive
Prospectus, San Juan Island National Historical Park, 1971.

U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service. Historic
Resource Study, San Juan Island National Historical Park, Washington, by
Erwin Thompson. Denver, Colorado: Denver Service Center, National Park
Service, 1972.

U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service. C(lassified
Structure Field Inventory Report, San Juan Island National Historical
Park, by Harold LaFTeur, T1975.

U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service. Statement for
Management, San Juan Island National Historical Park, Washington.
Seattle, Washington: Pacific Northwest Regional Office, National Park
Service, 1976.

U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service. Environmental
Assessment: Proposed General Management Plan, San Juan Island National
Historical Park. Seattle, Washington: Pacific Northwest Regional
Office, National Park Service, 1977.

U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service. General
Management Plan, San Juan Island National Historical Park, Washington, by
Don Campbell, et. al. 1979.

U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service. Resource
Management Plan and Environmental Assessment, Revision of 1979 General
Management Plan, San Juan Island National Historical Park. Seattle,
Washington: Pacific Northwest Regional Office, National Park Service,
1982.

U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service. Crook House
Adaptive Use, Development/Study Package Proposal, San Juan Island
National Park, Washington, Form 10-238, by Frank Hastings. San Juan
IsTand, Washington: San Juan Island National Historical Park, National
Park Service, 1984.

U.S. Department of the Interior, National Park Service. San Juan Island
National Historical Park Interpretive Prospectus. Harpers Ferry, West
Virginia: Harpers Ferry Center, National Park Service, 1984.

Justification of Proposed Treatment

With reference to applicable criteria in National Park Service
"Management Policies," NPS-28, "Cultural Resource Management Guidelines,"

and the characteristics and Timitations of the resource.



The Development/Study Package Proposal, "Crook House Adaptive Use,"
NPS form 10-238 dated February 1984, proposes an adaptive rehabilitation
of the Crook House to serve as a central point for visitors to English
Camp. The 1984 Interpretive Prospectus recommends the adaptive re-use of
the Crook House, in its present location, as the English Camp visitor
contact facility, including an information lobby, exhibit area, and
curatorial storage. This proposal is a compatible function for the
building, and enhances its continuing presence in the park, thus
preserving a structure believed to be eligible for the National Register
of Historic Places and of significance to the local community.

Since it is believed the Crook House qualifies for the National
Register, any proposed work at the facility will require compliance with
applicable regulations implementing the National Historic Preservation
Act of 1966, as amended. Under Section 106 of this Act, comments of the
Washington State Historic Preservation Officer and the Advisory Council
on Historic Preservation must be sought before carrying out any work
affecting the facility's historic resources. Compliance with procedures
established by NPS-28, "Cultural Resource Management Guidelines," is also
required. In addition, all work must meet the standards established by

the Life Safety Code as contained in sub-part E of 29 CFR 1910.

Recommended Changes in Proposed Treatment and Use of the Structure

Based on the degree of documentary physical evidence, the condition
of the structure and other professional findings in the completed
analysis section:

Analysis of the structure under consideration, as documented in this
report, supports rehabilitation of the facility. Structural

7



rehabilitation is required to correct water and moisture damage occuring
at the porch, roof, and eaves. Electrical and mechanical equipment needs
updating to meet code requirements, and thermal and moisture protection
need to be installed. Other deficiencies are discussed in the report.

It is necessary to design building improvements meeting the
functional requirements necessary for safe public use. Further, it is
important to repair or replace in-kind historic architectural features to

maintain historical integrity of the facility.

Recommendations for Documentation

Recommendations for the documentation, cataloging, conservation and
storage of any objects, documents, records, photographs, negatives, and
tapes collected or produced as a result of this study:

This document will be sent to all parties on the Standard
Distribution List of the Cultural Resources Division of the Pacific
Northwest Regional Office of the National Park Service (Appendix E).

A11 material and documents produced as a result of this report will
be kept in an archival depository at the University of Washington,
Seattle, Washington. In addition, copies of all documentation will be
transmitted to the Historic American Buildings Survey collections at the

Library of Congress.



Geographic and Natural Setting

The San Juan Gulf Islands archipelago is located in the confluence
of the Strait of Juan de Fuca and the Strait of Georgia, midway between
Seattle, Washington, and Victoria, British Columbia. Visible tops of
submerged mountains, the 172 islands of the chain vary in size and
terrain, from small, barren outcrops to forested and cultivated islands
up to fifty-six square miles in size. Situated in the rainshadow of the
Olympic Peninsula and Vancouver Island, the archipelago's average annual
rainfall is less than the region's as a whole, generally fifteen to
twenty-nine inches per year. Temperatures are moderate, with foggy, warm
summers and cool winters. The islands are accessible only by air and
water.

San Juan Island National Historical Park encompasses two different
environs on opposite ends of San Juan Island--the second largest island
of the San Juan chain. The park covers 1,752 acres, with 1,223 acres

9
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within American Camp on the southern, windswept end of the island, and
529 acres in English Camp, eight miles northwest of Friday Harbor on the
tree-sheltered cove of Garrison Bay. The Crook House is located on a
knoll overlooking the remains of the British garrison, and the bay
beyond. In addition to the natural edge formed by Garrison and Wescott
bays on the west, English Camp's boundaries are roughly marked by Bell
Point to the north, and the 650-foot Young Hill on the east. The
southern boundary extends almost due east from the southernmost end of
Garrison Bay. Vehicular access is via a paved county road.

San Juan Island is 14 1/2 miles long and 6 1/2 miles across at its
widest point. Like others in the group, this island consists of
metamorphosed sedimentary rocks, with glacial deposits from at least two
advances. The north end, where the Crook House is located, is covered
with glacial drift, and the south end, the site of American Camp, is
covered with glacial till. The gently sloping terrain of the island is
interrupted by Mount Dallas at 1,036 feet; Mount Finlayson, a 290-foot
gravel morrain situated on the wind-swept south, and Young Hill, which
rises 650 feet above the sea level on the northwest. Rock, gravel, and
silt loam cover most of the area, with occasional rock outcrops.

English Camp is situated in a "dry belt" on the island, with an
average rainfall of about twenty-five inches per year, which creates a
set of micro-environments different from those in topographically similar
areas nearby. The northern two-thirds of the island is heavily forested
with second-growth Douglas fir, western red cedar, and other conifers and
various deciduous trees, including red alder and bigleaf maple. Logging

and major burns in the latter half of the nineteenth and early part of
the twentieth centuries have virtually eliminated old-growth forest. The
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forest understory species include snowberry, wild rose, salal and
hawthorn. Grasses and sedges grow in small meadows and grasslands in
and around the camp.

Clams and other bivalves live in mud and gravel flats along Garrison
Bay; migratory water fowl stop in salt water marshes in the region;
flounder and dogfish occupy eel grass areas in the vicinity; and sea
mammals feed on salmon near the bay reefs. Black tailed deer and
raccoons live in the English Camp area forests, and the endangered bald
eagle is one of some half-dozen raptor species that breed on the island.
In the 1880s European rabbits were released on the islands by settlers,
ultimately causing a conspicuous impact on vegetation and soils; in 1980
the rabbit population began a precipitous decline for reasons still not
entirely clear. Wild turkeys were introduced to the island in the early

1970s.
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Context

The cove formed by Garrison Bay on the northeast end of San Juan
Island has been the site of human habitation for thousands of years.
Archeological excavations have unearthed prehistoric artifacts,
structures, and remains associated with Native American cultures
extending back as far as 1300 B.C., and origin myths of several Puget
Sound tribes place their source as a people in the cove area. Remains of
a longhouse attest to the cove's location as a winter village, and tools
and other artifacts provide evidence characteristic of a maritime
economy. Within the historic period, the Lummi, part of a larger
cultural group of Sound Indians, the Salish, are most frequently
connected to the site. In 1858 geologist George Gibbs noted ". . . the
whole inside of North Eastern part of San Juan formerly belonged to a
tribe kindered to the Lummies and now extinct."]

17



As part of that vast territory known as Oregon Country, the San Juan
Islands came under the dominion of the powerful Hudson's Bay Company,
which grew rapidly after its union with its former competitor, the North
West Company, in 1821. 1In July 1845, two years after establishing Fort
Victoria on Vancouver Island, Hudson's Bay officials formally took
possession of San Juan. In the early 1850s the company established a
seasonal fishing station on the island, and in 1853 Charles Griffin was
sent to establish a permanent sheep farm which he called Bellevue.

After the War of 1812, the question of British and American hegemony
in the Pacific Northwest became the subject of negotiations between the
two powers. In 1818 the countries agreed that the region west of the
Rocky Mountains was to be "free and open" for a ten-year period, allowing
Joint access and use of the lands. Negotiations over sovereignty of the
area continued for more than twenty years, while the "joint occupancy"
agreement was extended indefinitely. In the meantime, the Hudson's Bay
Company continued to establish posts and farms, even as American
missionaries, traders, and settlers increased their presence in the
region. In 1846 Great Britain and the United States settled on the 49th
North Parallel as the western boundary between Canada and the U.S.: all
of Vancouver Island would remain British, and the boundary between it and
the mainland would be "the middle of the channel which separates the

continent from Vancouver's Island."?Z

TErwin Thompson, Historic Resource Study: San Juan Island National
Historic Park, Washington (Denver Service Center: National Park Service,
U. S. Department of the Interior, 1972), p. 13. Gibbs was making a
geological reconnaissance of San Juan Island as part of his duties on the
American Boundary Commission.

21bid., p.1.
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FIGURE 4 English Camp during Royal Marines occupation. Storehouse (commissary) to left, original portion
of now-restored barracks to right. Collection, San Juan Island National Historical Park.



The question of which of two major channels--Canal de Haro or
Rosario--was "the" channel to which the treaty referred was disputed for
over twenty-five years. Between these two straits were the San Juan

Islands.

By the early 1850s the British colonial government, through the
Hudson's Bay Company, and the newly-established U.S. Territory of
Washington both laid claim to the islands. 1In 1854 Colonel Isaac Ebey,
the U.S. Collector of Customs for the Puget Sound area, sent Henry Webber
to the San Juan Island to inventory and collect taxes on the Company's
sheep, the first of three U.S. county officials to take up residence on
the island that year.

Despite disputes over taxes, British and Americans co-existed fairly
peacefully on the island, cooperating during skirmishes with Indians who
periodically sent raiding parties south from British Columbia. In 1856
the United States and Great Britain appointed a boundary commission to
survey the 49th Parallel and to attempt to find a solution to the water
boundary issue. The survey progressed throughout 1857, although the
commission was deadlocked on the water boundary issue.

News of the discovery of gold on Canada's Fraser River in 1857
brought an influx of adventurers, primarily American, to the north
boundary area. In 1859 a group hired a surveyor to go to San Juan to lay
out claims, and by June of that year about twenty-five Americans were
living on the island. On June 15 Lyman Cutler, whose claim lay closest
to the Hudson's Bay Company farm, Bellevue, shot and killed a Company pig

rooting in his potato patch.3

3Ibid., p.14.
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Disagreement between the British and American authorities over the
pig's replacement costs, and exaggerated accounts of the attendant
incidents aggravated American hostilities towards the British.

Ostensibly in response to a petition from settlers on the island asking
for protection from Indians, Brigadier General William Harney, commanding
general of the U.S. Army's Department of Oregon, ordered American troops
to the island. They landed on the south end of San Juan Island on July
27, 1859. In response, the British sent three naval ships to Griffin
Bay, and formal protests and charges were exchanged. An uneasy peace,
charged with tension, was maintained while communications between
Victoria and London, Washington Territory and Washington, D.C., and San
Juan Island and Victoria made their way through official channels.
President James Buchanan dispatched General Winfield Scott to resolve the
crisis. Scott arrived in Fort Vancouver on October 20, 1857, and
negotiated a settlement with Governor James Douglas of British Columbia
by which the island would be jointly occupied by British and American
troops--100 troops from each nation--to protect the nationals of both
countries. In March of 1860 the British Royal Marines landed on the
shore of Garrison Bay under the command of Captain George Bazalgette.
They were to stay on the island until November 2, 1872, almost a month to
the day after Kaiser Wilhelm of Germany, the arbiter of the boundary

dispute, awarded the San Juan Islands to the United States.

English Camp Structures

Second Lieutenant Fred Epstein, head of the American troops sent to
guard the abandoned English Camp buildings in 1872, prepared a report on
seventeen buildings he received. His superior, First Lieutenant James

21



Haughey, wrote a more detailed report which he forwarded to the
Department of the Columbia in early December. In January of 1875, A. E.
Alden was appointed master agent in charge of both posts, and he Tisted
the structures for which he had become caretaker. The 1874 survey by
Major Micheler included a map of the camp, which showed twenty-seven
structures.4

The structures were arrayed in a series of somewhat axial
relationships to the bay and the topography of the cove. Apparently the
first structure built was a frame storehouse for which the materials were
requisitioned before the Marines left for the island in March of 1860.
With the exception of the Tog blockhouse or guardhouse on the shore of
Garrison Bay, most structures appear to have been frame buildings with
horizontal board siding, some with paneled doors and six-over-six
windows. Other documented pre-1868 buildings included a storehouse,
surgeon's quarters, officers' mess, barracks, single subaltern's
quarters, a stable and storehouse, and dock structures.

After the arrival of a new garrison commander, Captain William
Delacombe, in June 1867, a new cottage for the commanding officer and his
family was built. A new house was also constructed for the married
subaltern, and repairs and alterations were made to the single
subaltern's house, the barracks, storehouse, and guardhouse. Other
buildings on the site included wash and bath houses, a blacksmith shop,
an officers' mess, a messhouse, a sawmill, two sentry boxes, a school and

library, and several additional structures, including a formal garden and

4Ibid., pp. 199-240. Detailed descriptions of the structures are
located in Chapter 6; historic photographs, collection of American Camp
files, San Juan Island National Historical Park.
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flagstaff. A number of accounts by nineteenth-century visitors to the
camp noted the neatness and cleanliness of the garrison and the beauty of

the setting.

Civilian Settlement

Approximately twenty-five people were living on the island when
American troops landed in 1859, most of them "squatting" near the south

end of the island. In August of 1859 The British Colonist, a Victoria

newspaper, noted that "some six American squatters" were living on the
north end of the is]and.5 During the 1860s, the civilian population

grew slowly, comprised mostly of men who either established preemptive
homestead claims or who lived in San Juan Village, located near the
Hudson's Bay Company wharf. A number of these were would-be miners,
returned from the Fraser River gold fields. Until the middle of the
decade, civil-military relations were strained, primarily in the American
Camp vicinity where certain settlers and entrepreneurs persisted in
challenging American military authority, including attempts to regulate
their sale of liquor to soldiers and Indians. In 1868 the U.S. District
Court in Port Townsend settled the issue, determining that San Juan
IsTand was under military rule. The English Camp commanders seem to have
enjoyed relatively undisputed control of civilian affairs of citizens
claiming British protection. Issues ihvo]ving citizens of both
nationalities were handled jointly by American and British military

authorities.

5Thompson, Historic Resource Study, p. 226.
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Throughout the 1860s, excursionists from Victoria visited the
island, joining in both American and British holiday celebrations
sponsored by the garrisons: picnics, suppers and dances, and horseraces
were part of the social activities of the island during the joint
occupation. Prior to the boundary decision, settlers were in the unique
position of not having to pay taxes or other property assessments.6

One hundred and eighty-four adult males lived in the islands in
1870, excluding the military garrisons, according to the 1870 census;
ninety-six of these lived on San Juan. Approximately twice as many
British-born settlers claimed American citizenship as those who did not.
Sheep raising and farming were accounted successful activities in an 1876

report.7

Just prior tq British withdrawal in 1872, forty-six British
settlers on the island had submitted a petition requesting the English
Camp commander to stay on San Juan and protect their interests. But by
1873 a special U.S. commissioner sent to settle outstanding British
claims reported he found all had become American citizens.8

In 1874 the island was surveyed by the Surveyor General's office in
Olympia, Washington, after which settlers filed formal claims to the land
on San Juan. English Camp, surveyed in the fall, fell in Sections 25 and

26 of Township 36 North, Range 4 West. The survey field notes indicate

the camp was still owned by the United States, and the plat map noted the

6Ibid., p. 105.

7E1wood, Evans, Washington Territory: Her Past, Her Present and
the Elements of Wealth Which Ensure Her Future (Olympia, WA: C.B. Bagley,
1877; reprint ed., Seattle, WA: Shorey Book Store, 1966), passim; Keith
Murray, The Pig War (Tacoma: Washington State Historical Society, April
1968), p. 67; Thompson, Historic Resource Study, pp. 195-196.

8Thompson, Historic Resource Study, p. 196.
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location of the English Garrison. The closest farms to the camp belonged
to August Hoffmeister, the past's former sutler, and to an R. Pritchard.
In January of 1876, English-born William Crook purchased the land and
structures of English Camp.

Ten years later, San Juan Island had a population of 536: 302 men
and 234 women. Most settlers were farmers, but a large number of men
described themselves as fishermen and laborers. Many settlers were born
in Great Britain, Canada or the United States, but the island also had a
fairly high.proportion of settlers born in other European countries.
One-third of the total archipelago's population was American Indian.9

San Juan Village, which grew from a small collection of tents near
American Camp on the south end of San Juan Island, was the hub of island
life for a few short decades. After the area of Friday Harbor was
designated the new county seat in the early 1870s, the village was
abandoned, and in 1890 the few remaining buildings on the site burned.

By 1900 Friday Harbor, the new island center, was a thriving village with
a population of between three and four hundred, a salmon cannery, wharves
and warehouses, and a telephone system.

At the turn of the century three thousand people Tived on the
islands. Agriculture and fishing were primary industries, and San Juan

Island boasted a Time manufacturing plant at Roche Harbor, north of

English Camp. Steamers connected the islands to the mainland.

9washington, Washington Territorial Auditor's Office, Census Roll,
1885.
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FIGURE 5 Engraving of English Camp, ca. 1870.
the right, and the Lieutenant's (Subaltern's) house is below it, to the left.
National Historical Park.

The disputed Captain's house is the uppermost building on

Collection, San Juan Island



The Crook Family

William Crook purchased the land on which the English Camp
structures stood on January 5, 1876. He and his young family had finally
reached the end of a long cross-country journey via ox-drawn wagon, which
had lasted at least four years. A house carpenter by training, Crook was
looking for land to settle, apparently lured west by accounts of the
Puget Sound area.1

Family tradition claims Crook arrived in the United States in 1856,

when he landed in New Orleans. He was born in Yorkshire, England on

TInterview with Rhoda Crook Anderson by Carl Stoddard, Tape in
Collection of San Juan Island National Historical Park, 18 February 1970;
interview with Mary Crook Davis by Newland, Washington Emergency Relief
Administration, Everett, Washington, xeroxed notes in Collection of San
Juan Island National Historical Park, 27 July 1936. Both of Crook's
daughters remarked on their father's desire to settle in Puget Sound.
Rhoda claimed her father had read about Puget Sound before arriving in
America. Mary said her father wanted to locate next to salt water, and
that he refused to stop traveling until the family reached the coast.
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November 27, 1837, the son of James and Mary Crook. James, too, was a
carpenter and a draftsman of no Tittle skill. It is unclear whether
William's parents accompanied him on his voyage to the United States, but
there is no doubt his father was in North America by the 1860s, drafting
and perhaps designing structures in Ontario, Canada. A brother, John,
may have emigrated with the fami]y.2

By 1867 William and James were in Ontario, where James designed at
least part of the Presbyterian Church in Seaforth. It is most likely
that there William met his future wife, Mary Forrest, a Scottish
immigrant born in 1835. Sometime in the late 1860s, probably 1869,
William and Mary began their trek west. James stayed in Ontario until at
least 1871. One family member said William was hired to build houses in
various places as the Crooks traveled west, which may account for the
length of time it took them to reach Washington. The Crooks' first
daughter, Mary, was born in Fremont, Nebraska Territory, on June 6,
1871. After her birth the Crooks presumably picked up the Oregon Trail
west of Fremont, and traveled on it as far as Fort Bridger, Wyoming. For
some reason, rather than heading north on the trail through Idaho, the
family continued west to the town of Evanston, Wyoming, where a second

child, James, was born on September 29, 1873. The family apparently

2i11iam Filbey and Mary K. Meyer, eds., Passenger and Immigration
Lists Index, Vol. 1, A-G, (Detroit, Michigan: Gale Research Co., 1981).
Secondary accounts of Crook's arrival in the U.S. say he was sixteen
years old when he landed in 1856: since his birth date is verifiably
1837, either the date of his arrival or his reported age upon arrival is
wrong. Since the 1900 census reports his date of arrival as 1856, most
likely his age was reported erroneously. There are no reported records
of passengers from Great Britain--or any other European country--arriving
in New Orleans in the 1850s. However, a William, John, and James Crook
all participated in the Aliens Declaration of Intention and Oath of
Allegiance in 1860 in the Superior Court of Pennsylvania.
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rejoined the primary route of the Oregon Trail through Idaho and then the
secondary route to Walla Walla, Washington.3

According to the Crooks' youngest daughter, Rhoda, her father first
heard of English Camp from a Major Blake, whom she said the family met on
the Oregon Trail. In this story, Blake told Crook to travel to Olympia
and inquire about routes to the San Juan Islands. Rhoda said the family
arrived on San Juan Island--via a schooner from Olympia--in 1874. In
1936 daughter Mary, then in late middie age, claimed the family followed
the Oregon Trail to Olympia, Washington, and then took a schooner to.
American Camp on San Juan Island, arriving in 1876. The son, James, said
he was two years old when the family arrived on the island, making the
date late in 1875.4

In November of 1875 Crook and his family settled on the English Camp
site, with the intent to claim the Tand under the homestead land laws.
According to Rhoda, they found the buildings in "perfect condition."
Rhoda also said a caretaker on the property--possibly Alden--told Crook
he could not buy the land because it belonged to the government, but her
father, she said, went to Olympia and was told by an official there that
he could file a homestead claim and take possession. Possession

evidently referred to the land, and not the buildings, because on

3Draw1ngs of "Additions to Moorehouses Dwelling, Goderich,
Canada," dates 1871 and signed by "J. Crook, arch.," are in the
colTection of San Juan Island National Historical Park; Information on
birth dates and locations are taken from a list of family births and
deaths in an autograph album belonging to James Crook (the son), dated
1888, in the collection of San Juan Island National Historical Park; the
Walla Walla route was described by Rhoda Crook Anderson in the interview
by Stoddard, 18 February 1970.

4Rhoda Crook Anderson interview by Stoddard, 18 February 1970;
Mary Crook Davis interview by Newland, 27 July 1936; Thompson, Historic
Resource Study, p. 209.
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November 24, 1875, the buildings formerly occupied by the British troops
were auctioned by the Office of the Chief Quartermaster of the Department
of the Columbia. A total of ". . . in all about 15 buildings" were
advertised for auction, and records have survived on the sale of two of
them--the Captain's house and the Subaltern's house, both of which were
purchased by a John Izett for a Henry Webster. Crook and a number of
other San Juan Islanders were present at the sale, including a Major E.W.
Blake.’

Blake said in a later law suit over the Captain's and Subaltern's
houses, involving Crook and Webster, that he had ". . . aided Mr. Crook
in getting there to English Camp and showed him the place, and 1 had
intended to take the place myself as a homestead, but I gave way and

permitted him and his family to take the p]ace."6

In exchange for this

aid and "consideration," Mr. Blake understood that he was to purchase and
"have the Captain's and Lieutenant's quarters and the hill on which they
were situated . . . about five acres was mentioned and estimated as the

area to be included." Crook, according to Blake, was under obligation to
him. In Crook's later testimony during the same hearing, he agreed that
Major Blake was to buy the buildings "as his own," but stated "There was

no amount of land ever mentioned that Major Blake was to have title

to."/

5Washington, Jefferson County Clerk Third Territorial District
Court, Territorial Case File, File #195, Findings of Referee, 30 June,
1879. Washington State Archives Regional Center, Bellingham,
Washington. File 195, Series 2, Box 3.

6Ibid., Evidence Taken by Referee, p. 16.

71bid., pp. 12, 16, 17, 39.
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There are no known records showing the disposition of the other
buildings auctioned that day, nor any indication whether Crook bid on and
purchased the extant buildings--the log blockhouse, the storehouse, or
the barracks--or any others that are seen in historic photos dating from
the Crook period. The hospital building, now restored at English Camp,
was apparently purchased and later moved to Peter Lawson's farm, about
three miles from the camp site. Crook may have purchased the other
buildings, or may have assumed ownership because no one else bid on
them. On January 6, 1876, Crook filed his application to enter Sections
25 and 26 as his homestead under the Homestead Law at the U. S. District
Land Office at Olympia, Washington Territory.

At the time of the auction the Crooks were Tiving on the land, but
it is not clear which building--if any--they first occupied. In 1956 son
Jim told an interviewer the family first lived in the barracks building,
but daughter Rhoda said the family first lived in the "Lieutenant's

house," which is where she was born on February 29, 1880.

Testimony in the 1879 lawsuit indicates the Crooks took possession
of and Tived in the disputed Lieutenant's (Subaltern's) house beginning
September 1, 1878. It is possible, then, that the family first Tived in
a barracks building: there were two extant in 1875, both in "fair
condition," although only one survives today. The family most likely
moved directly from the barracks into the Lieutenant's house, located on
a terrace east and slightly south of the formal gardens. The house had

been built in 1867, a 36-by-32-foot frame building with six rooms, a

kitchen, and a pantry.8

8Frank Lynch, "The 01d Blockhouse at English Camp," Seattle Post
Intelligencer, 29 August 1956, n.p.; Thompson, Historic Resource Study,
Do £17 e
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The move coincides to the day with the event that sparked the
lawsuit--an attempt by Webster to sell the Captain's house and the
Lieutenant's house to a M}. Timothy Flynn. Crook refused to allow Flynn
and Webster's Tawyer possession of the house. On March 4, 1879, Crook,
Webster, and their attorneys went to court in Port Townsend. The essence
of the suit was Crook's refusal to acknowledge Webster's ownership of the
two structures. He agreed Webster had purchased the buildings during the
auction--or rather, he agreed that Webster's agent, John Izett, had
purchased the buildings. However, he claimed, the terms of the sale for
all the buildings auctioned required their removal from his land within
thirty--later sixty--days, and that failure to remove the structures
meant he gained possession of them. In March of 1878 Crook told Webster
to remove the buildings within sixty days or he would claim them: Webster
did not respond until September, when he told Flynn he would sell him the
buildings for $500. The Crooks moved into the building the same day
Webster apparently struck the bargain with Flynn. Because Crook had
agreed to maintain the buildings for a period of months, for which he was
partially paid, and because of conflicting testimony and
misunderstandings, and Webster's claim of a loss of $500, the case was
brought to court. Ultimately, the referee in the matter, C. H. Hanford,
found in favor of Crook. Webster's lawyers appealed. The final decree
in the matter, filed September 15, 1879, awarded Webster a sum of $240.
Crook retained title to the houses.9

According to Rhoda, the family later moved into the "library"

building, apparently located on the upper terrace, south of the

9Third Territorial District Court, File #195, passim.
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“blacksmith's shop" whose masonry ruin is extant. Since the building is
no longer there, and records are not clear, it is only possible to state
that the building may have been a 36-by-20-foot structure, third to the
west of a row of four structures which ran on a westerly axis on the
uppermost terrace where the Crook house now sits. Rhoda said the family
later moved into the barracks building--the one still extant--which Crook
“fixed up" by building a new fireplace and moving or adding interior
walls to create a living room. Evidence found prior to reconstruction of
the building supports her claim of alterations to the structure.10

Mary Crook Davis, four or five years old when the family arrived on
San Juan Island, remembered that most settlers lived in two-room log
structures, furnished with hand-made items. Most people, she said,
traded produce and game for manufactured items, such as cloth. Food
included island game, particularly deer, ducks and geese. A trip to the
nearest store--first San Juan Village, and later, Friday Harbor, was an
all-day affair via wagon or horseback. Her father, she said, planted
grain in the fields cleared by the Marines, and fruit trees--primarily
cherries and apples--in the old Marine parade ground.]]

In 1880 San Juan County assessed William for $990 worth of personal
property, but no assessment was levied on his land for improvements. In
1883--the year his patent was recorded for Lot 1 and the Southwest
quarter of the Northwest quarter of Section 25, and Lots 1, 11, 12 and 13

of Section 26 in Township 36 North, Range 4 West--a total of 161 85/100

10Rhoda Crook. Anderson interview by Stoddard, 18 February 1970; A.
Lewis Koue and Erwin Thompson, English Camp: San Juan Island National
Historical Park; Historic Structures Report, Part T {Washington, D.C.:
National Park Service, Division of History, 1969), pp. 21-23.

HMary Crook Davis interview by Newland, 27 July 1936.
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acres--he was paying taxes on $250 worth of land, $300 worth of
improvements, and $189 of personal property. Ten acres of the 161 were
recorded as "1‘mproved."]2

By 1880, when the Crooks' third and final child, Rhoda, was born,
William's father, James, had arrived on San Juan and was living next door
to the family. There is no record of which structure he Tived in, nor do
recorded interviews with the family mention him. Rhoda, in later years,
mentioned her Uncle John, saying he was a bachelor who lived in the
Captain's house and arrived "years" after her father came to the island,
but her grandfather is not mentioned. James, whose wife, Mary, had died
in 1868, homesteaded the east half of the Northwest quarter of Section
25, a total of 80 acres, adjoining his son's claim. His patent was
recorded in May 1885. Some long-time residents claim William and his
brother, John, made elaborately carved furniture for the house, and also

built caskets for sale to island residents.]3

In 1880 William Crook still identified himself as a house carpenter,
and his daughter, Rhoda, claimed he ". . . didn't care much for
farming . . ." and pursued his trade by building "most of the" houses on
San Juan. While this is possible, it seems full-time homesteading would
have left 1ittle time for carpentry beyond the scattered structures he
erected on his own homestead. Also, daughter Mary indicated her father

gave up carpentry for farming and raising fruit and grain.

125an Juan County Real Property Assessment and Tax Rolls
(Washington: Assessor's Office, San Juan County, 1881, 1882, 1883).
Washington State Archives Regional Center, Bellingham, Washington.

]3U.S., Department of Commerce, Bureau of Census, Tenth Census of
Population (1880); interview with Etta Egeland by Patricia Erigero, 27
June 1984, Some of the furniture is now in possession of the San Juan
County Historical Society.
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On February 14, 1889, James Crook died intestate. William inherited
his eighty acres, which included fencing, valued at $250, and several
buildings, valued at $75. 1In 1892 the family had enough money to loan
$100 to neighbors, secured by Tand, and in conjunction with a neighbor in
1895, loaned $1,250 to another neighbor, again secured by land on the
island. Also in 1895, William and Mary sold Lot 1 of Section 26, a total
of 25 acres.]4

In 1895 William was assessed for a total of 152.75 acres in Section
25, and 41 acres in Section 26: Lot 3 in Section 26, consisting of 3
acres--the site of English Camp proper--was the only lot listing assessed
improvements, valued at $400. According to daughter Rhoda, Crook had
made use of most of the buildings on the site. She claimed her father
used both the blacksmith shop and the sawpit, situated near the
"library". She also indicated the blockhouse was used by the family for
storage, and that her father used the storehouse (commissary) as a shop
for building boats. She stated that he tore down the first barracks
building, and used the Captain's house, either during or after her uncle
John's stay there, as a metal shop. The Captain's house burned down in
1894, and Rhoda claimed the Lieutenant's house was also demolished by
fire, which must have occurred after her birth there in 1880. She also
noted her father was responsible for building the picket fences that
enclosed fields and orchards on the site.

In 1897 Mary, the eldest daughter, married Herbert H. Davis, whose

family had settled on Lopez Island in the San Juans in the early 1870s.

T4Record of Mortgages (Washington: Auditor's Office, San Juan
County); Record of Deeds (Washington: Auditor's Office, San Juan County);
Probate Records (Washington: Auditor's Office, San Juan County, 1891),
Washington State Archives Regional Center, Bellingham, Washington.
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Davis, born in Michigan, made his living operating a series of steamers
and tugboats in the islands, including the tug "Roche Harbor," which was
owned by Roche Harbor Limeworks. The Davises lived with her parents
after their marriage, and in 1900 Davis took advantage of the dock
facilities at English Camp to rebuild one of his wrecked steamers, The
Pansy, which, with a new hull, was rechristened Mary D. Soon after the
turn of the century Rhoda married Fred Anderson, a chief engineer on the

Lydia Thompson, a mailboat operating on the Sound, and moved first to

Fairbanks, Alaska, and then to the mainland of Washington, where she
lived for over thirty years with her husband, who operated a steamer in
the Sound. James, the son, never married. On October 23, 1899,
William's wife, Mary, died.

In 1900 William purchased Lots 14 and 15 of Section 26, northwest of
English Camp. At the time the tax assessor recorded his ownership of two
horses, two cows, twenty sheep, a wagon, and $40 worth of furniture.
However, a daybook kept for the farm indicates he owned sixty-three ewes
and two rams in 1899. The family sold eggs, chickens, sheep, wool, and |
fruit--in August 1899 they sold the Wirth store in Friday Harbor over 500
pounds of cherries, the price of which was applied to future grocery
purchases. In the 1900 census William referred to himself as a farmer,
not a nhouse carpenter. On August 13, 1901, William died of a heart
attack while doing chores near his barn. In addition to his Tivestock
and land, he left some farm machinery to his children.

At the time of his father's death, Jim Crook was in his late

twenties, working as a laborer on the farm. He had been educated on the

]5Mary Crook Davis interview by Newland, 22 July 1936; San Juan
Islander, 25 January 1900, p. 3, and 1 March 1900, p. 3.
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FIGURE 6 Mary Crook Davis, Jim Crook and Rhoda Crook Anderson, ca. 1900.
Collection, San Juan Island National Historical Park.

FIGURE 7 Carding machine built by Jim Crook, just prior to its removal to
the San Juan County Historical Society. Collection, San Juan Island Na-
tional Historical Park.
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island, had lived there since he was two years oid, and apparently only
made occasional trips to the mainland. Al1l three children were joint
heirs to William's estate, which was settled in 1902, although in 1904
Rhoda and Mary signed a quit-claim deed to all the property in favor of
Jim. 16

In 1900 Jim began construction of a two-story frame house, located
on a knoll overlooking the camp and Garrison Bay. Why, after twenty plus
years of 1living in camp structures, a new house was built is something of
a mystery. One account claims Jim Crook "helped" his brother-in-law,
Herbert Davis, buiid the house. If this is so, it is possible that the
Davises wanted to build a house for the family they planned to have: in
fact, they had four children, none of whom survived childhood. The house
was completed in 1903. Long-time residents say both the Davises and Jim
occupied the house, but some stories claim Jim moved out and into the
barracks at some point during his long tenure on the farm. The house,
with its fairly generously-sized eight rooms plus kitchen wing, seems to
have been planned for a large fami]y.]7

In the first few decades of the twentieth century the farm operated
from income derived from a variety of sources. In 1913 Jim recorded a

total of 136 sheep, some sold for meat and ail sheared for their wool.

He made barrels, which he sold for ninety-five cents each to the Great

165an Juan Islander, 20 September 1909, p. 3.

17Rhoda Crook Anderson interview by Stoddard, 18 February 1970;
Lucile McDonald, "Historic Acres to Be a State Park," The Seattle Times,
15 December 1963, p. 7. Another story is that Crook buiit the house for
a mail-order bride who never showed up, or that he built it for a fiancee
who changed her mind. It is possible that William designed the house,
since he did not die until 1901, when the house was presumably under
construction.
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Northern Fish Company. In 1921 he supplemented the farm income by
working on a road; possibly for the county. A number of outbuildings
began to appear around the meadow northwest of the house, reflecting farm
functions. These included two chicken houses, an existing smokehouse, a
garage, a sawmill, a granary, and several other structures. At some
point the English Camp barracks was converted to a barn. In 1902 James
purchased an additional forty-five acres--Lots 1 and 2 of Section 26,
which had a structure on it--on the south edge of Westcott Bay, north of
his holdings. By 1911 he owned a 1ittle over 272 acres, three horses,
four yearling cattle, sheep, a wagon, and a carriage, $35 in general
agricultural machinery and $120 worth of major agricultural equipment,
such as a threshing machine or hay press. He also had $50 worth of

boats, but as yet did not own an automobi]e.]8

Even as a youngster Jim tinkered with machinery, ". . . always
making something new, inventing something," an occupation he pursued
throughout his 1ife. His sister Rhoda said their father used to lock up
his tools to keep his children away from them. One day, however, Jim
stole the key to the tool cabinet and proceeded to make a model
airplane. William found him working on it, and asked "What's that
thing?" When Jim told him, his father said "Have you lost your senses?"
The ill-fated craft was thrown out, and, according to Rhoda, ". . . that
settled that." Much Tater Jim told journalist Frank Lynch he ". . . had

an idea for a flying machine--never did have the money to develop it.

18¢ro0k Day Book, Collection of San Juan County Historical
Society, ca. 1890-1927; San Juan County Real Property Assessment and Tax

Rolls, 1905, 1911; San Juan County Personal Property Assessment Roll,
1905, 1910.
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FIGURE 8 Jim Croock with homemade wool suit, ca. 1945.
Collection, San Juan Island National Historical Park.
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Then the Wright brothers came out with something very much 1ike I had in
mind myse]f."19

Crook has also been credited with building boats. In 1970 two half
models of boats were found under the barracks building, one of which was
stamped with "J. Crook." The models, built between 1890 and 1940, were
apparently used by Crook to construct full-scale boats, and were of a
design common to the islands in the years between 1901 and 1916. Jim may
have picked up his boatbuilding skills from his father, whom his sister
claimed had built a catamaran of juniper wood.20

Jim began to tinker with the machinery he used on the farm,
modifying their operation to perform different tasks than called for in
their original design. He would not, according to Rhoda, give up on an
invention ". . . until he got it right." He designed and built the
sawmill, and claimed to have made everything in it ". . . but the saw and
the wheels for the carriage." He altered a tractor so he could rake hay
while operating the tractor. He built a Toom--he said he got the idea
from a book--and a spinning machine and spool rack, and a
twenty-foot-long, two-ton carding machine from a manure spreader's
wheels, dried steer hide, homemade gears and chains, and the wood of
various trees, all powered by a belt connected to a tractor. From these
inventions he made his own clothes from the wool of his own sheep. Other

Crook-created items ranged from a simple system of iron pipes and slats

19Rhoda Crook Anderson interview by Stoddard; Lynch, "Old
Blockhouse."

20Rhoda Crook Anderson interview by Stoddard; Kenady, Stephen,
"Small Craft Half Models from English Camp," in San Juan Archaeology, ed.
Roderick Sprague, vol. 1 (Moscow, Idaho: Laboratory of Anthropology,
University of Idaho, 1983), pp. 189-196.
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to train pea vines, to a pulley system in the house which would
automatically make his bed. One piece of machinery found after his death
was an Essex automobile which had been converted into a power cut-off
saw. As he put it, "I've always had a mind for inventions . . .“2]
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